IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTHONY J. FARINA,)
)
 Appellant,)
)
 vs.)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Appellee.)
 _____)

CASE NO.: 93,050
L.T. CASE NO.: 92-32105 CFAES

An appeal from the Circuit Court of the
Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for
Volusia County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEFFREY L. DEES
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
1326 South Ridgewood Avenue, Suite 10
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 257-9010
Florida Bar No. 167906

Williams v. State, 547 So.2d 179 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) 23,33,68

vii

TABLE OF CITATIONS (Continued)

Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 1994) 75,78

United States v. Gordon, 817 F.2d 1538, 1541 (11th Cir. 1987) 23

United States v. Henry, 447 U.S. 264, 274, 100 S.Ct. 2184, 2188,
2402, 65 L.Ed.2d 115 (1980) 48

Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 877 (1983) 92

Fifth Amendment, United States Constitution 43,55,60,93,94,95

Sixth Amendment, United States Constitution 43,55,60,93,94,95

Eighth Amendment, United States Constitution 54,55,60,92,93,94,95

Fourteenth Amendment, United States
Constitution 43,55,60,68,92,93,94,95

Article I, Section 2, Florida Constitution 55,59,93,94,95

Article I, Section 9, Florida Constitution 43,55,59,93,94,95

Article I, Section 11, Florida Constitution 43

Article I, Section 12, Florida Constitution 43

Article I, Section 16, Florida Constitution 55,59,93,94,95

Article I, Section 17, Florida Constitution 55,59,92,93,94,95

Article I, Section 22, Florida Constitution 55,59,93,94,95

Article I, Section 23, Florida Constitution 43

Section 39.038, Florida Statutes (1991) 48

Section 921.141, Florida Statutes 46,95

Section 921.141(1), Florida Statutes (1992) 46

Section 921.141(2)(b) and (3)(b), Florida Statutes 92,93

Section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes 92,93

Section 921.141(5)(b), (e), (f), (g), (i), Florida Statutes (1991) 3

Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (1992) 55

Rule 3.190(c), Fla. R.Crim.P. 46

Rule 3.220(c) 49

Rule 3.220(c)(1)(C) 48

1997, Florida College of Advanced Judicial Studies, Handling
Capital Cases 67

viii

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the size and style of type used in this Brief is proportionally spaced CG Times, 14 pt.

Jeffrey L. Dees
Attorney for Defendant

ix
CITATIONS TO RECORD

The Record on Appeal is not consecutively numbered nor contained in consecutively numbered volumes.

The Record has three distinct sections, and accordingly, citations to the

Record will be as follows:

(1) **Pretrial Hearings**. The pretrial hearings were transcribed by date in separate binders commencing February 11, 1997, and concluding April 1, 1998. However, the clerk numbered all the pages consecutively in these transcripts as pages 1 - 658. References to the pretrial hearings will be denoted by "PTR" followed by a page reference. Thus, **(PTR:200)** refers to page 200 of the pretrial hearing transcripts. A footnote will generally be added specifying the date of the hearing for ease in locating the transcripts.

(2) **Trial Record**. The trial record is contained in trial transcripts Volumes I thru XI (April 6 -), plus the Spencer hearing held on May 1, 1998, and the sentencing held on May 7, 1998. The clerk numbered all of these pages consecutively as pages 1 - 2637. References to the trial proceedings will be denoted by "TR." followed by a page reference. Thus, **(TR.2:200)** refers to Volume II, page 200 of the trial transcripts noted above. A footnote will generally be added specifying the Spencer hearing or sentencing hearing dates for ease in locating the transcript, since these have no volume numbers.

(3) **Document Record**. The pleadings, orders and other documents filed with the clerk below are contained in three separate volumes (One - Three) and with pages consecutively numbered as pages 1 - 383. References to the document record will be denoted by "DR." Thus, **(DR.3:354)** refers to Volume Three, page 354 of the document records.

QUOTATIONS

Unless otherwise indicated, all underlined portions of quoted material has been added.

C:\LIT\98-1247.033