FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APR 5 1999

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Whief Deputy Sterk

ANTHONY J. FARINA,

Appellant,

Apperrane

CASE NO. 93,050

STATE OF FLORIDA,

v.

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

This is the abuse complaint referred to above.

their mother would later return the items for a refund. (R1913).

Steve McCollum is a retired Florida Department of Corrections chaplin who knows both defendants from his service at Union Correctional Institution. (R1918-19). Anthony is sincere in his faith and has never been a troublemaker or discipline problem. (R1923).

The defendants' mother, Susan Griffith, testified about their background and early life. (R1935, et seq). She testified that she tried to be a good mother to her children and never abused them. (R2011).

Dean Dearborn was a counselor at a residential facility where Anthony was housed in 1987-88. (R2026-28). He receives letters from Anthony which, in their opening and closing, are religious in tone. (R2035).

Clifford Lewis is a Ph.D. psychologist who was engaged to evaluate Anthony for the purpose of developing mitigation evidence. (R2110-2112)²⁰. In his opinion, Anthony has an "emotional age" of "not over 14" (R2117), and had a "dysfunctional" childhood. (R2118). (R2118). In his opinion, Anthony has "dependent personality disorder." (R2123). Lewis also believes that Anthony would be a "positive influence" in the general prison population. (R2131). Lewis further testified that Anti-social Personality

²⁰

A mental state expert also testified for Jeff. (R2044). That testimony does not relate to Anthony, and is omitted here.

Disorder is his secondary diagnosis, that Anthony is neither insane nor mentally ill, and that the robbery was motivated by a desire for money. (R2139-40). The defendants had planned the robbery for weeks, and had discussed killing the witnesses before the robbery. (R2141).

Katrina Wandsnider is the defendants' younger sister. (R2160). She testified that her brothers send her letters from prison, and that those letters brighten her day. (R2160-62).

On May 1, 1998, a *Spencer* hearing was conducted. Kathy Cratin is a case counselor at the Volusia County Branch Jail -- she testified that both defendants are polite and have no disciplinary record. (R2452-56).

Anthony Farina also testified at the *Spencer* hearing. He admitted that the planning of the robbery began two or three weeks before it was committed, but maintained that there was never any intent to do anything other than rob the Taco Bell. (R2474; 2477). Anthony claimed that there was no plan to kill the Taco Bell employees (R2490; 2497), and that he did not think about being recognized by his former co-workers until two days after the robbery. (R2505). Anthony testified that he was not under the influence of any intoxicant at the time of the robbery. (R2511). The defendants went to K-Mart on May 8, 1992, planning to purchase cartridges, gloves, and rope. (R2515). The defendants had discussed killing the victims before the robbery was carried out, but,

according to Anthony, they were not going to kill the victims if they resisted -- instead, they were going to threaten or stab the victims with the knife. (R2516-17). Anthony did not try to stop Jeff from shooting the victims because he thought Jeff might shoot him. (R2522).

On May 7, 1998, the Volusia County Circuit Court sentenced Farina to death, finding the following aggravating circumstances: that Farina had previously been convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; that the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain²¹; that the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and that the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated, premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. (R356-7). The sentencing court gave great weight to arrest and cold, calculated, and premeditated the avoid aggravators, moderate weight to the prior violent felony and heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravators, and substantial weight to the pecuniary gain aggravator. (R356-8).

In mitigation, the sentencing court gave moderate weight to the "no significant criminal history" mitigator; little weight to the "accomplice" mitigator; and moderate weight to the age

²¹

The sentencing court merged the during the course of a robbery aggravator into the pecuniary gain aggravator. (R356).

mitigator. (R358-9). The court also considered and weighed various non-statutory mitigation. (R359-60). That Court found, at the conclusion of the weighing process, that the aggravation far outweighed the mitigation, and sentenced Farina to death. (R360). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Neil issue contained in Farina's brief is procedurally barred because Farina accepted the jury without renewing his objection to the State's use of its peremptory challenges. Alternatively and secondarily, this claim has no merit because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the peremptory challenges at issue. The trial court was in the best position to determine the credibility of the reasons advanced for those challenges, and that credibility determination should not be disturbed.

The "post-arrest statement" of the defendant was properly admitted at the guilt phase of his capital trial, as this Court has previously determined. The jury in a resentencing proceeding is not expected to make its decision in a vacuum, and the admission of evidence that was properly admitted at the original guilt phase proceedings cannot be prejudicial. There is no basis for relief.

During the original direct appeal proceedings before this Court, the admissibility of certain statements made by the defendant was litigated and decided adversely to Farina. In the

resentencing proceedings, Farina filed a new motion to suppress those statements, which, in part, was based upon grounds that were not raised earlier despite having been available and known to the defendant at all times. That is a procedural bar to litigation of that claim. Moreover, Farina cannot demonstrate prejudice because the statements were properly admitted in the guilt phase of his capital trial, as this Court has previously determined.

The resentencing court properly denied Farina's motion to sever because the severance issue was resolved against Farina by this Court in the prior appellate proceedings. Because the statements on which the motion to sever is based have been determined admissible by this Court, there can be no prejudice.

The three-part "victim impact" issue is not a basis for relief because such evidence is admissible under prevailing law, as this Court found in the previous proceedings. The evidence at issue did not become a "feature of the trial", and, in fact, amounted to only a small portion of the evidence presented. Finally, the jury instruction issue is not a basis for relief because the jury was correctly instructed regarding the consideration of "victim impact" evidence.

The sentencing court properly found the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance based upon the mental torture to which Michelle Van Ness was subjected before she was killed.

The sentencing court properly found the cold, calculated, and

premeditated aggravator based upon the evidence which established that the murder of the witnesses was an integral part of the robbery plan. The requisite heightened premeditation exists, and the sentencing court properly found this aggravating circumstance.

The sentencing court properly found the avoiding arrest (or "witness elimination") aggravator based upon the evidence which established that the victims knew and could identify the defendant, and that there was no other reason to kill (or try to kill) them other than to eliminate potential witnesses.

Death is not a disproportionate sentence in this case because Anthony Farina was a major participant in the robbery and murder -- without his active involvement, the murder would not have taken place. Death is the proper sentence.

Farina's multi-part challenge to the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty act does nothing more than advance arguments that have been repeatedly rejected by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. THE JURY SELECTION ISSUE

On pages 22-34 of his brief, Farina argues at length that the State improperly used two peremptory challenges against black jurors. Farina alleges that this was in violation of *Neil v. State*, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), and its progeny. This claim is procedurally barred, and, alternatively, meritless.

In his brief, Farina alleges that his trial attorney "timely

objected", and, to the extent that an objection was raised when the State exercised a peremptory challenge, that is a correct factual statement. (TR1106; 1125). However, Farina ultimately accepted the jury without renewing his challenges to the peremptory strikes at issue. (TR1149). Under settled Florida law, the failure to renew the challenge is a procedural bar to litigation of the claim on appeal. See, Hudson v. State, 708 So.2d 256, 262 (Fla. 1998) ("... this claim [is] procedurally barred because Hudson accepted the jury without renewing his challenge".); Joiner v. State, 618 So.2d 174 (Fla. 1993). Because this claim is procedurally barred, this Court should deny relief on that basis without reaching the merits of this claim.

Alternatively and secondarily, without waiving the procedural bar defense set out above, this claim is not a basis for relief because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the peremptory challenge. See, Turner v. State, 645 So.2d 444 (Fla. 1994). The prosecutor stated valid, race-neutral reasons for the two peremptory strikes at issue, and, under settled Florida law, the trial court should be affirmed.

In addressing the procedure for handling a challenge to a peremptory strike, this Court stated:

We recently clarified the guidelines concerning peremptory challenges. See Melbourne v. State, 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996). In Melbourne, we stated that upon proper objection by the party opposing the other side's use of a peremptory challenge on racial grounds, [footnote omitted] the court must ask the proponent of the strike

to explain the reasons for the strike. Id. The burden of production then shifts to the proponent of the strike to offer a race-neutral reason for the strike. Id. If the explanation is facially race-neutral and the court believes in light of the circumstances surrounding the strike the explanation is not a pretext, then the strike will be sustained. Id. The court's focus is not on the of explanation but reasonableness the rather genuineness, and the trial court's determination, which turns primarily on an assessment of credibility, will be affirmed on appeal unless clearly erroneous. Id. at 764-64. Applying these guidelines to the instant case, we affirm the trial court's decision. Accord Austin v. State, 679 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

Smith v. State, 699 So.2d 629, 636-37 (Fla. 1997). [emphasis added]. When that standard is applied to the peremptory challenges at issue, there is no basis for reversal because there is no abuse of discretion.

Juror Edwards

During preliminary questioning by the Court, juror Edwards stated that her son "had a drug related charge in North Carolina four or five years ago". (R75). During *voir dire* by the State, she elaborated on that conviction:

Mr. Tanner: Thank you. Ms. Edwards, I certainly don't want to embarrass you, but I would like to ask you just a question or two. You indicated your son had some trouble years ago. Can you tell us what his current status is? Has he come through those? Is he serving time somewhere?

Ms. Edwards: He's in a camp.

Mr. Tanner: In a camp?

Ms. Edwards: Yes.

Mr. Tanner: Is this a prison camp?

Ms. Edwards: I just know he's in Seminole Johnson Camp. I mean, he was with a group of guys that were supposed to be selling. They never caught them at anything, because he was there with them, as far as I know, they all went to a camp.

Mr. Tanner: Okay. They convicted them of selling dope or drugs?

Ms. Edwards: Yes.

(R332-3). The State challenged Juror Edwards for cause on the following basis:

Mr. Tanner: We would challenge [Ms. Edwards] for cause, Your Honor. She said her son has been placed in a camp. He's been there for five years for drug charges, along with all of the other people that were involved in the transactions. But she said that her son was really not guilty, and that he shouldn't be there.

We don't think -- we don't believe that she could be fair and impartial in this matter because of the perceived injustice that was inflicted upon her son.

(R1102-3). The Court denied the cause challenge, and the State then exercised a peremptory strike against juror Edwards. (R1103-4). The prosecutor immediately stated the following reasons for that peremptory strike:

Mr. Tanner: . . . She was quite hesitant, I felt, on her position with regard to the death penalty. She said that she could not 100 percent say that she was receptive or favorable to the death penalty. For those reasons, plus those stated in the cause [challenge], we would ask to peremptorily excuse her.

(R1104). 22 In sustaining the peremptory challenge, the trial court

²²

Ms. Edwards had stated that "I've always had a pro and con" concerning capital punishment, and went on to say "So I've never really come to a 100 percent death penalty on it". (R214-5). While

stated:

The Court: Well, the basis in the *Melbourne* decision is whether the -- the challenge is a good faith challenge, and not necessarily whether the Court agrees with it, or -- it's the credibility of the challenging attorney.

And without regard to whether -- what race Ms. Edwards is, prosecutors very frequently challenge jurors for those types of reasons. So I find it to be a race/neutral reason that is very common in our system for challenging jurors.

So I find that it's not a race based challenge. The reasons given are adequate. So I'll sustain the challenge.

(R1105-6). Those findings are not clearly erroneous, are in accord with *Melbourne* and *Smith*, *supra*, and should not be disturbed.

Juror Hilton

Farina also challenges the State's peremptory strike of juror Hilton. (R1122). As with juror Edwards, the State initially sought to challenge the juror for cause, and, when that challenge was denied, exercised a peremptory strike. (R1122). The reasons stated were as follows:

Mr. Tanner: Your Honor, we would ask you to consider her for cause. She is the lady who was the juror who was late yesterday, and I think it was more than 30 minutes. It was closer to 40 or so minutes late. She held up the entire proceedings. And then, I'm not even sure who asked the question, but I was sitting at counsel table when one of the Defense lawyers asked her something yesterday about serving on the jury an she said, Yes, if someone would wake me up.

somewhat cryptic, that final comment is, at the least, properly described as "hesitant", especially by one who had the benefit of observation of the juror rather than a cold transcript.

That indicated to me that whatever that problem was had to do with her oversleeping. And we know what it costs us yesterday, nearly an hour's worth of work, and a lot of people waiting. In addition, she's very tentative about the death penalty. She is in a church which is very active in a prison ministry. When I asked her about Christian forgiveness, she seemed fine until the end. You know, Christian forgiveness versus law.

And finally she said, but a little bit of that Christian forgiveness might creep in. And I think Christian forgiveness is a wonderful thing, but when it can't be separated from a juror's function, it's inappropriate. So for those reasons, I ask to excuse her for cause.

(R1122-1123)

In sustaining the peremptory strike, the trial court found that the State was not making a racially-motivated challenge, that the challenge was in good faith, and "I don't think he's lying to me". (R1126-7). Those findings of fact are not clearly erroneous, and should not be disturbed. *Melbourne*, *supra*; *Smith*, *supra*.

The jury selection issue contained in Farina's brief is procedurally barred and, alternatively, without merit. Relief should be denied.

II. THE "POST-ARREST STATEMENT" CLAIM

On pages 35-42 of his brief, Farina argues that the trial court should have granted his motion in limine to preclude the admission of a statement he made during the course of a conversation with his co-defendant brother. This Court previously held Farina's statement admissible, stating:

In this case, Anthony Farina's own incriminating statements were admissible as admissions by a party-opponent. See § 90.803(18)(a), Fla.Stat. (1991).

In these statements, Anthony recounted the crime in minute detail, including which victim died and the specific wounds inflicted upon specific victims. While most of Anthony's comments focused on Jeffery's actions, Anthony did admit that he tied up the victims. He also expressed regret that "[i]nstead of stabbing [the victims] in the back [I] should have sliced their fucking throats and then put something in front of the freezer door so they couldn't open them ... [and] cut the phone lines."

Farina (Anthony) v. State, 679 So.2d at 1157. In this proceeding, Farina's position is that the statement quoted above was not relevant to any aggravator, amounted to an inadmissible "lack of remorse" or "future dangerousness" argument, and that the prejudicial effect of the statement outweighed its probative value. This argument is based upon a misapprehension of controlling law, and is not a basis for relief.

Florida law is well settled that the jury in a resentencing proceeding is not expected to make its sentencing recommendation in a vacuum, and is entitled to receive evidence that serves to familiarize them with the facts of the underlying case. Wike v. State, 698 So.2d 817, 821 (Fla. 1997); Lawrence v. State, 691 So.2d 1068, 1073-4 (Fla. 1997); Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413, 419 (Fla. 1996); Teffeteller v. State, 495 So.2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986). The statement at issue served that function, and, contrary to Farina's apparent claim, was relevant to the penalty phase proceeding, and did not inject an improper "aggravator" into the proceedings. Moreover, and most significantly, the statement was

admitted at the original guilt phase proceeding. But for the fact that this was a resentencing proceeding, the statement at issue would have been before the jury as a result of the guilt phase testimony. For that reason, Farina cannot, by definition, show that he was prejudiced by the admission of the statement. Lawrence, supra. Because he cannot show prejudice, there is no basis for relief.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, neither of the decisions relied upon by Farina are controlling. Kormondy v. State, 703 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1997) and Derrick v. State, 581 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1991) both dealt with original proceedings in which the evidence at issue was introduced, for the first time, in the penalty phase of the capital trial. That is not the situation here because Farina's statement was introduced during the guilt phase of his first trial. Kormondy and Derrick have nothing at all to do with the situation presented in this case. Farina cannot show prejudice, and, for that reason, there is no basis for reversal.²³

III. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS CLAIM

On pages 42-49 of his brief, Farina argues that the trial court should have granted his motion to suppress his statements

²³

The State does not concede that there was any error associated with the admission of the statement. The fact that Farina can never establish prejudice trumps all other possible arguments.

that were recorded on May 11, 1992, between Farina, his brother, and John Henderson (the other defendant). The admissibility of these statements was raised on direct appeal and decided adversely to Farina. Farina v. State, 679 So.2d at 1154.²⁴ When Farina filed a new motion to suppress the statements, the State filed a Motion to Strike, which was granted. (R299; 585). For the reasons set out below, the trial court properly granted the motion to strike.

As this Court is well aware, Florida has a series of regularly applied and routinely enforced procedural rules which exist to insure that claims are raised and litigated at the first available opportunity. The "contemporaneous objection rule" is such a procedural rule, as is the component of Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 which procedurally bars litigation in a collateral attack proceeding of claims that were or could have been raised on direct appeal. Rule 3.850(c), Fla.R.Crim.P. Yet another example of a procedural rule that functions to insure that claims are raised and litigated at the earliest opportunity is the longstanding (and rarely litigated) rule that a defendant cannot, in the context of a resentencing proceeding, relitigate issues which could have been raised during the first appeal. Harvard v. State, 414 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1982). That is what Farina is attempting to do in this case.

Farina cannot legitimately argue that he did not litigate the

²⁴

The primary issue in the first appeal was apparently whether a Bruton violation occurred. Farina v. State, 679 So.2d at 1155.

denial of the motion to suppress during his first appeal to this Court. Further, Farina cannot claim that the current basis for suppression was included in the first such motion, even though it was available and known at the time and could have been included therein had counsel chosen to do so. 25 Because that is so, it stands reason on its head to suggest that Farina can seek suppression of a statement on grounds that have long been available to him but yet were not raised at the first available opportunity in the course of the proceedings. Farina's tactics fly in the face of any concept of orderly litigation, and this Court should not countenance this attempt to engender confusion in an attempt to gain some advantage. Farina had the opportunity to seek suppression on these grounds but elected not to, apparently in favor of an argument that former counsel believed to be stronger. He is not entitled to a second bite at the apple, and the trial court should be affirmed.

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, there are several additional reasons that this claim is not a basis for relief. First, there can be no serious argument that the claim raised in brief is not procedurally barred for Rule 3.850 purposes because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. The result in the context of this case should be no

²⁵

On page 44 of his brief, Farina asserts that the claims now raised "had not been litigated originally, contrary to the State's argument". In fact, the State argued that the claims **could have** been or were raised on direct appeal. (R299).

different -- a contrary rule would lead to a continual reopening of cases. That is the reason for the law of the case rule, and this Court should apply it here. Second, at least insofar as the statements made by Jeffrey are concerned, Anthony Farina has no standing to challenge their admissibility on the asserted grounds. Because that is so, there is no basis for suppression. The grounds asserted on appeal focus on an asserted deficiency as to statements made by Jeffrey Farina, and, for that reason alone, Anthony Farina's motion was properly stricken. Finally, to the extent that Farina attempts to refer back to Claim II, such argument is meritless because there can be no prejudice for the reasons set out above.

IV. THE DENIAL OF THE MOTION TO SEVER CLAIM

On pages 50-54 of his brief, Farina argues that the trial court erred in denying his motion to sever his case from that of his co-defendant. The motion is based upon the admission of the statements discussed in connection with issues II and III, above, and is not a basis for relief for the same reasons.

During his last appearance before this Court, Farina raised a similar issue. This Court denied relief, stating:

Farina argues in Issue 6 that he was denied a fair trial because he was tried with a codefendant and that codefendant's incriminating statements were offered at trial when Farina could not cross-examine the codefendant. Police monitored conversations between Jeffery and Anthony Farina on two occasions while the Farinas were in custody and sitting in a police car. In these conversations, the Farinas discussed the crimes.

We have held that a person in custody in the back of a police car has no right of privacy. State v. Smith, 641 So.2d 849, 851 (Fla. 1994).

Anthony Farina argues that the admission of Jeffery's statements violated his Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses as explained in *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 88 S.Ct. 1620, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968). We find no Confrontation Clause violation under the circumstances of this case.

Farina (Anthony) v. State, 679 So.2d at 1154-55. To the extent that the claim contained in Point IV of Farina's Initial Brief is the same issue that was raised in the prior proceeding, there is no basis for reversal because the statements at issue have already been found admissible. Farina's argument to the contrary has no logical or legal basis because it ignores the fundamental fact that there can be no error in the admission of the statements at the resentencing proceeding because those statements were properly admitted at the original guilt phase. If the statements were admissible at the guilt phase, and this Court held that they were, there can be no error in the admission of the statements on resentencing. Any other result defies logic. Farina cannot demonstrate prejudice as a matter of law, Harvard, supra, and there is no basis for relief. The denial of the motion to sever should be affirmed in all respects.

To the extent that the asserted grounds for severance differ

²⁶

Farina does not claim that the statements at issue in the resentencing differed in any respect from the statements that this Court found admissible in the prior opinion.

from the grounds that were previously before this Court, the law is clear that such relitigation of a previously-decided issue on new grounds is inappropriate. See, Harvard, supra.²⁷

To the extent that Farina claims, on page 54 of his brief, that the admission of the statements deprived him of an "individualized sentencing process", that claim could have been but was not raised in the prior proceeding, and cannot be litigated for the first time on resentencing. See, Harvard, supra. In any event, this claim is a logical impossibility because the statements were properly admitted in the guilt phase proceeding. Further, the assertion that "[t]he trial court found that the Appellant was only an accomplice to the murder and that his role was minor" is incorrect. In the sentencing order, the trial court found as a fact that Farina was a "major participant" in the murder of Michelle Van Ness. (R358). The trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

V. THE "VICTIM-IMPACT" EVIDENCE ISSUE

On pages 54-69 of his brief, Farina argues that the trial court should have (1) granted his motion to exclude victim impact evidence, (2) not allowed that evidence to become a "feature of the trial", and (3) given his limiting instruction to the jury regarding such evidence. None of those "issues" are grounds for reversal of the trial court.

²⁷

The motion was argued at (R226-238).

A. The Denial of the Motion to Exclude

The trial court properly denied Farina's motion to exclude "victim impact" testimony because, under the prior decision of this Court in this case, such evidence is admissible. This Court held:

On remand, however, the State may present victim impact testimony that comports with the decision in Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991). See also Windom v. State, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1995); Burns v. State, 609 So.2d 600, 605 (Fla. 1992).

Farina (Anthony) v. State, 679 So.2d at 1158. In the co-defendant's case, this Court addressed the issue in more detail:

[O]n remand, the State should be allowed to present victim impact testimony that comports with the dictates of decisions from the United States and Florida supreme courts. The United States Supreme Court has held that

if the State chooses to permit the admission of victim impact evidence and prosecutorial argument on that subject, the Eighth Amendment erects no per se bar. A State may legitimately conclude that evidence about the victim and the impact of the murder on the victim's family is relevant to the jury's decision as to whether or not the death penalty should be imposed. There is no reason to treat such evidence differently than other relevant evidence is treated.

Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 2609, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991). In Payne the Court receded from holdings in Booth v. Maryland, [482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987)], and South Carolina v. Gathers, [490 U.S. 805, 109 S.Ct. 2207, 104 L.Ed.2d 876 (1989)] that victim impact evidence was inadmissible in capital sentencing proceedings. Payne, 501 U.S. at 830 n. 2, 111 S.Ct. at 2611 n. 2. The only part of Booth that Payne did not overrule was "that the admission of a victim's family members' characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence violates the Eighth Amendment." Id.

Thus, on remand, the State may present victim impact evidence that comports with *Payne*. *See Windom v. State*, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla.1995); *Burns v. State*, 609 So.2d 600, 605 (Fla.1992).

Farina (Jeffrey) v. State, 680 So.2d at 399 [emphasis added]. In light of the clear holding from this Court that victim impact evidence is admissible, the trial court would have committed error had it adopted Farina's argument and ruled to the contrary. Likewise, in Bonifay, this Court held:

Clearly, the boundaries of relevance under the statute include evidence concerning the impact to family members. Family members are unique to each other by reason of the relationship and the role each has in the family. A loss to the family is a loss to both the community of the family and to the larger community outside the family. Therefore, we find this testimony relevant.

Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413, 419-420 (Fla. 1996). The trial court properly denied the motion to exclude.

B. The "Feature of the Trial" Claim

The second component of this claim is Farina's claim that the victim impact evidence became a "feature of the trial". That argument simply has no factual basis. According to Farina, the victim impact testimony consisted of "over 67 pages worth of highly emotional, repetitive and prejudicial testimony." Initial Brief at 69. However, those 67 pages worth of testimony are contained in a transcript that, from opening argument to final summation, consists of 1172 pages. Stated differently, the testimony that Farina claims was a feature of the trial takes up about six percent of the

record. In contrast, the testimony of Farina's mother alone goes on for 82 pages. (R1935-2017). When the "victim impact" testimony is considered in the context of the entire trial, as it must be, it clearly did not become a feature of the trial. It was legal evidence that was properly admitted under controlling law.

To the extent that Farina argues that the jury's advisory sentencing recommendation was influenced by the victim impact evidence (*Initial Brief* at 69), that argument is wholly speculative and lacks any legal basis. In any event, and to the extent that this argument deserves a response, this Court has already held that victim impact evidence was improperly excluded in Farina's prior trial. *Farina*, supra.

To the extent that further argument is necessary, as Justice O'Connor stated in Payne:

In my view, a State may legitimately determine that victim impact evidence is relevant to a capital sentencing proceeding. A State may decide that the jury, before determining whether a convicted murderer should receive the death penalty, should know the full extent of the harm caused by the crime, including its impact on the victim's family and community. A State may decide also that the jury should see "a quick glimpse of the life petitioner chose to extinguish," Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367, 397, 108 S.Ct. 1860, 1876, 100 L.Ed.2d 384 (1988) (REHNQUIST, C.J., dissenting), to remind the jury that the person whose life was taken was a unique human being.

Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S.Ct. at 2611 (concurring opinion). Furthermore,

"Murder is the ultimate act of depersonalization."
Brief for Justice For All Political Committee et al. as

Amici Curiae 3. It transforms a living person with hopes, dreams, and fears into a corpse, thereby taking away all that is special and unique about the person. The Constitution does not preclude a State from deciding to give some of that back.

Payne v. Tennessee, supra, at 2612. The sentence should be affirmed in all respects.

C. The Jury Instruction Issue

The third component of this claim is Farina's claim that the trial court did not give "limiting instructions to the jury regarding its use of [the victim impact] evidence". *Initial Brief* at 68. This argument is based on an invalid factual basis, because the jury was specifically instructed that:

You have heard evidence concerning Michelle Van Ness from friends and members of her family. This evidence is neither an aggravating circumstance nor any part of an aggravating circumstance which you may consider in rendering your verdict. However, you may consider this evidence so far as it demonstrates her uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by her death.

(R343). That instruction, which was included in the final jury instructions, (R2409) is clearly a "limiting instruction" that informs the jury as to how victim impact evidence is to be utilized. That instruction is at least as detailed as the instruction that was upheld in Alston v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S453 (Fla. 1998), and in all respects complies with Windom, supra. The contrary claim contained in Farina's brief is based upon an erroneous view of the record. The sentence should be affirmed in

all respects.²⁸

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